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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
DAVID W. DEY, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
CITY OF KISSIMMEE,  
 
     Respondent. 
                                

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No.  06-3532 

   
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Daniel Manry conducted the 

formal hearing in this proceeding on April 19 and 20, 2007, in 

Kissimmee, Florida, on behalf of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings (DOAH). 

APPEARANCES 
 

For Petitioner:  Edward Gay, Esquire 
                      1516 East Concord Street 
                      Orlando, Florida 32803 

 
     For Respondent:  Leonard A. Carson, Esquire 
                      Lucille E. Turner, Esquire 
                      Carson & Adkins 
                      2958 Wellington Circle North 
                      Suite 200 
                      Tallahassee, Florida 32309 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue for determination is whether Respondent 

discriminated against Petitioner on the basis of a handicap, in 

violation of Section 760.10, Florida Statutes (2003). 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On March 16, 2006, Petitioner filed an Employment Charge of 

Discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(Commission).  On August 14, 2006, the Commission issued a 

Determination: No Cause. 

On September 15, 2006, Petitioner timely requested an 

administrative hearing by filing a Petition for Relief with the 

Commission.  The Commission referred the matter to DOAH to 

conduct the hearing. 

At the hearing, Petitioner testified, called four other 

witnesses, and submitted 32 exhibits for admission into 

evidence.  Respondent called four witnesses and submitted  

74 exhibits for admission into evidence. 

The identity of the witnesses and exhibits, and the rulings 

regarding each, are reported in the three-volume Transcript of 

the hearing filed with DOAH on May 18, 2007.  Pursuant to an 

order granting an unopposed motion to extend the time for filing 

proposed recommended orders (PROs), the parties timely filed 

their respective PROs on June 15, 2007. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Petitioner has been employed by the City of Kissimmee 

(the City) from July 17, 1989, to the present as a tele-

communicator in the Communications Center of the Police 
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Department.  Petitioner and his health care provider advised the 

City sometime in 1995 that Petitioner is diabetic. 

2.  Diabetes has impaired Petitioner's work schedule and 

his willingness to train other employees but has not handicapped 

Petitioner.  The diabetes has not substantially limited 

Petitioner in a major life activity and has not substantially 

limited Petitioner from performing a class of jobs or broad 

range of jobs in various classes. 

3.  Petitioner is able to care for himself.  Petitioner 

clothes himself, bathes, shaves, brushes his teeth, and combs 

his hair.  Petitioner checks his own blood sugar level regularly 

during waking hours. 

4.  Petitioner is able to perform other major life 

activities.  Those activities include walking, driving a 

vehicle, performing manual tasks, seeing, speaking, hearing, 

learning, talking, and performing the duties of his occupation. 

5.  Petitioner has walked for several years approximately 

1.25 miles a day.  Petitioner drives his own vehicle. 

6.  Petitioner performs manual tasks.  Petitioner operates 

a computer, though he has some difficulty doing so.  Several 

months ago, Petitioner helped a friend hang an interior door. 

Petitioner has also helped friends paint walls in recent years. 



 4

7.  Petitioner has difficulty with his uncorrected vision. 

With reading glasses, however, Petitioner reads documents most 

of the time. 

8.  Petitioner uses a device identified in the record as a 

CPAP machine to assist him in breathing at night.  However, 

Petitioner does not need to use the machine during the work day 

to do his job.  

9.  No health care provider has advised Respondent that 

Petitioner is disabled.  Petitioner’s diabetic specialist is  

Dr. Jose Mandry.  Dr. Mandry did not testify at the hearing. 

10.  Dr. Mandry informed Respondent that Petitioner has 

diabetes in a note the City received on or about February 6, 

1995, when Respondent attempted to schedule Petitioner for a 

night shift in the Communications Center.  The note from  

Dr. Mandry did not indicate that Petitioner was handicapped 

(disabled), or that any accommodations were required in order 

for Petitioner to continue working.  The note requested the City 

to keep Petitioner on daytime shifts "if possible."  The note 

did not indicate that a daytime schedule was medically 

necessary.  Rather, the note indicated that working day shifts 

would be “desirable.” 

11.  On March 23, 1995, Dr. Mandry provided another letter 

to the City regarding Petitioner's medical condition.  The note 
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stated that Petitioner needed to “be accommodated with a normal 

daytime work schedule.” 

12.  In July 1995, the City established a regular daytime 

work schedule for Petitioner.  The City never regarded 

Petitioner as disabled, and the daytime work schedule for 

Petitioner was not an “ADA Accommodation.” 

13.  The City employee who granted the request for a 

daytime schedule was identified in the record as Police 

Department Commander Johns.  Commander Johns did not have 

authority to provide an ADA accommodation. 

14.  The authority to provide an ADA accommodation is 

vested in the city manager and city attorney.  They make a final 

determination of whether the City will provide an ADA 

accommodation to a particular employee.  The city manager and 

city attorney did not authorize the City to provide any ADA 

accommodation to Petitioner. 

15.  The daytime schedule granted to Petitioner is part of 

Respondent’s general practice and policy of working with 

impaired employees and employees who have personal needs.  The 

policy attempts to help such employees with their schedules when 

it is possible to do so without an adverse impact on the City’s 

ability to provide services. 

16.  Assuming arguendo that City employees had the 

authority to provide ADA accommodations to Petitioner in the 
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absence of a formal determination by the city manager and city 

attorney, Petitioner relies on evidence of interactions between 

City employees and Petitioner in an attempt to show the City 

provided Petitioner with ADA accommodations.  The relevant 

evidence involves two time periods.  The first is the period 

from June 4, 1996, until June 5, 2002.  The second is the period 

from June 5, 2002, through March 16, 2006, when Petitioner filed 

the Charge of Discrimination with the Commission.  The record 

evidence does not support a finding that City employees provided 

an ADA accommodation to Petitioner. 

17.  The daytime work schedule authorized in 1995 remained 

in effect until June 4, 1996, when Dr. Mandry advised the City 

that Petitioner could work up to 12 hours a day, as long as the 

12 hours were daytime hours.  Between 1996 and June 5, 2002, the 

City allowed Petitioner to work overtime when he wanted to, 

based on Petitioner's self-assessment of his physical condition. 

18.  Petitioner acknowledged the overtime schedule in a 

memo that he wrote to Lieutenant Donna Donato on June 5, 2002 

(the memo).  The memo described Petitioner's plans for his 

future work schedule. 

19.  The memo stated that Petitioner was providing notice 

“that due to self-assessed health issues” Petitioner intended to 

restrict the amount of his overtime in the future.  (emphasis 

added).  In relevant part, the memo advised the City that 
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Petitioner did not intend to “demand the imposition of the 

restrictions [on his work schedule] as addressed by City 

Management in June of 1995.”  Instead, the memo advised that 

Petitioner would address his concerns “to the best of [his] 

abilities by modifying [his] agenda. . . ." 

20.  Petitioner listed a number of items that may be fairly 

described as terms or conditions for when and under what 

circumstances Petitioner would work overtime.  Petitioner 

provided no new medical evidence to support a finding of medical 

necessity for the terms and conditions that Petitioner 

prescribed in the memo.  Petitioner acknowledged that his 

concerns were based on “self-assessed health issues” and 

asserted that “no further documentation should be necessary.” 

21.  Petitioner did provide a note from Dr. Mandry on  

June 20, 2002.  The note states: 

The following is a letter as requested by 
the above-captioned patient [David Dey].  As 
you know, he suffers from diabetes and also 
requires insulin for his control.  David 
needs to monitor glucose levels and follow 
fairly stable meal patterns in order to try 
to achieve good control of diabetes and 
avoid complications.  It would certainly be 
to his advantage and much preferable if he 
could have a stable work shift where he 
could regulate his meals and his injections 
properly. (emphasis added) 

 
Respondent's Exhibit 18 (Hereinafter R-18, etc.). 
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22.  During the second period of time between June 5, 2002, 

and the Charge of Discrimination, the City hired a new manager 

for the Communications Center.  In July 2002, the City hired  

Ms. Jean Moe to manage the Communications Center at the Police 

Department, and Ms. Moe remains responsible for the supervision 

and management of Petitioner.  Ms. Moe is diabetic.  

23.  Ms. Moe met with Petitioner on August 6, 2002.  The 

two discussed the issues Petitioner raised in his memo and 

agreed on a number of items outlined in Ms. Moe’s memo of  

August 6, 2002 (the Moe memo).  The Moe memo provides in 

relevant part: 

Beginning today, August 6, 2002 you will 
only work your twelve (12) hour shift 
assignment [sic].  You will not volunteer or 
be assigned any overtime.  You are also no 
longer on the standby schedule.  Here you 
had some concern on the overtime issue, 
however, as stated by your doctor in writing 
he is recommending that you do not work any 
extra hours.  Should he feel your health 
improves and he authorizes your overtime, I 
will take his note under advisement.  That 
does not mean I will immediately give you 
overtime but will review his letter and his 
suggestion. 

 
Along with the above issues, your supervisor 
has been advised under no circumstances will 
you miss your assigned lunchtime or breaks, 
these are important to keep you regulated on 
your medication per your doctor. 

 
You also requested you be allowed to lift 
your feet after working several hours, this 
will also be under consideration when I 
receive a note from your doctor stating it 
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would be another requirement for health 
reasons. 

 
R-19. 
 

24.  In 2004, the City Police Department considered changes 

to the normal work schedule for employees in the Communication 

Center.  The City advised employees, including Petitioner, that 

the City would require employees to rotate work shifts between 

daytime and night shifts. 

25.  On July 14, 2004, Petitioner wrote to the City Human 

Resources Department and requested a “final, permanent 

accommodation . . .” for daytime work only.  Petitioner provided 

copies of documents from Dr. Mandry, which did not include a 

medical opinion that Petitioner is disabled. 

26.  Assistant Human Resources Director Andrea Walton wrote 

to Dr. Mandry on July 15, 2004, and requested clarification of 

his letters in order for the City to arrange an appropriate 

schedule for Petitioner.  Ms. Walton specifically inquired about 

the possibility of Petitioner's working a rotating work schedule 

and asked Dr. Mandry to clarify Petitioner's ability to work 

overtime.  The City wanted Dr. Mandry to clarify previous 

statements that Petitioner could work overtime as a parking 

enforcement specialist but that Petitioner's overtime work as a 

tele-communicator must be limited. 
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27.  Dr. Mandry responded to Ms. Walton on July 26, 2004.  

The response explained that Petitioner was able to work in a 

rotating schedule and for unspecified amounts of overtime if 

control is optimal and under ideal circumstances.  Dr. Mandry 

was unable at that time to give more specific information to the 

City.  He explained:  

With regards to some of the other issues, 
again, it is very difficult, if not 
impossible, for me to give you a specific 
answer, and I would rather you talk to  
Mr. Dey specifically so that he can let you 
know what his current limitations are.  
 

R-27. 

28.  On August 3, 2004, Ms. Beth Stefek, the director of 

Human Resources for the City, wrote to Petitioner and explained 

that the City was willing to work with Petitioner to arrive at 

an appropriate work schedule.  Ms. Stefek did not indicate that 

the City considered Petitioner to be disabled.    

29.  Sometime after August 3, 2004, Petitioner experienced 

further difficulties in controlling his diabetes.  On August 10, 

2004, Dr. Mandry wrote to the City again.  Dr. Mandry told the 

City: 

I just saw David today who seems to be 
having some further difficulties with his 
health and his control of diabetes.  At this 
time, I have reviewed his records, and I 
think it would clearly be in his best 
interest that from now on, he work only on a 
stable daytime work shift only [sic].  He 
certainly is not doing well when he tries to 
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do overtime, and traditionally in the past 
has always become more complicated and his 
health has deteriorated whenever he tries to 
do either night shifts or overtime shifts.  
I have, therefore, at this time, recommended 
that David should not be allowed to work any 
overtime and/or nighttime shift.  Of course, 
he needs to have accommodations for meals 
and monitoring or blood sugar levels as 
necessary, and he needs to have access to 
food in case he becomes hypoglycemic. 
 

R-29.   

30.  The difficulties Petitioner experienced in controlling 

his diabetes were attributable to an increase in stress that 

Petitioner experienced between June and September 9, 2004.  

Petitioner's father died in June 2004, and three hurricanes 

impacted Petitioner’s home from August through September 2004.  

The hurricanes also increased stress at work due to increased 

demand on City services.  On August 15, 2004, Petitioner advised 

Ms. Moe that he was intentionally running his blood sugars 

“higher than desired” at work to “offset and reduce the 

possibility of a hypoglycemic situation.” 

31.  Toward the end of August 2004, the City moved 

Petitioner to the night shift in the Communications Center.  

Petitioner worked the night shift for a few nights.   

32.  On September 5, 2004, Petitioner advised Ms. Moe that 

he was available to be part of a voluntary group of dispatchers 

to work catastrophic disasters like hurricanes if she decided to 

form the group.  On or about September 9, 2004, while Petitioner 
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was at home, Petitioner fell unconscious and was transported to 

the hospital for treatment. 

33.  On September 16, 2004, Dr. Mandry wrote to the City 

and advised that it was necessary for Petitioner to refrain from 

working "any overtime shifts and/or nighttime shifts.”  On or 

about September 21, 2004, Petitioner returned to work, and the 

City placed Petitioner on a daytime work schedule through the 

remainder of 2004.  

34.  On January 6, 2005, Ms. Moe advised Petitioner the 

City needed Petitioner to work the night shift for a few nights. 

However, the City was able to satisfy its needs without placing 

Petitioner on the night shift at that time. 

35.  Petitioner responded to Ms. Moe on January 6, 2005, by 

stating that he was going to begin a search within the City for 

another position that would meet his medical needs.  On  

January 20, 2005, Petitioner inquired about an opening within 

the City for a parking enforcement specialist.  On January 25, 

2005, Petitioner informed Ms. Moe and others at the City that he 

would not consider either the parking enforcement position or a 

community service officer (CSO) position that had become 

available because both jobs contradicted his "medical 

requirements.” 

36.  On April 4, 2005, Ms. Moe sent a memo to Petitioner 

advising him that the City would place Petitioner on a list 
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identified in the record as the call-back list for emergency 

back-up in the Communication Center.  Ms. Moe specified that the 

placement of Petitioner on the call-back list was subject to the 

work conditions previously established in July 1995 by Commander 

Johns. 

37.  Ms. Moe advised Petitioner that he would be placed on 

the call-back list effective April 20, 2005, but only in those 

weeks when he was scheduled to work 33 hours so that his work 

week did not exceed 40 hours.  She assured Petitioner that 

absent some extraordinary circumstances, the City would not call 

Petitioner back to work a night shift and would not schedule 

Petitioner on a call-back that would result in Petitioner 

working more than 40 hours in a work week. 

38.  The memo from Ms. Moe expressly indicated that the 

City did not consider the Petitioner to be ADA disabled.   

Ms. Moe told Petitioner to advise her if he thought there was 

some medical or ADA reason why he could not be on the call-back 

list. 

39.  On April 13, 2005, Attorney Edward R. Gay wrote to the 

City on behalf of Petitioner.  Mr. Gay stated that Petitioner 

believed there was a medical reason that prevented Petitioner 

from being placed on the call-back list. 

40.  On April 21, 2005, Attorney Lucille Turner, the City’s 

special labor counsel, responded to Mr. Gay.  Ms. Turner 
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provided Mr. Gay with a copy of the City’s April 4, 2005, memo 

detailing the call-back restrictions applicable to Petitioner.  

Ms. Turner repeated that it was not the City's intent to call 

Petitioner back to work a night shift or to schedule Petitioner 

to work more than 40 hours a week in the absence of “some 

extraordinary circumstance." 

41.  The City, through its counsel, expressly advised 

Petitioner that the City had never undertaken a formal review of 

whether Petitioner should be classified as a person protected by 

the ADA.  Instead, the City had informally worked to develop a 

work schedule for Petitioner that takes into account the 

information provided by Petitioner's health care providers. 

42.  The City provided Petitioner with written guidance 

concerning the procedure for Petitioner to follow to seek a 

classification from the City as ADA disabled.  In relevant part, 

the letter advises: 

If [Petitioner] believes that his diabetes 
(or any other medical condition) requires 
the City to not include him on the call back 
list, or to change his work schedule, he 
should provide the City with further 
information in support of his request.  This 
should include information about the legal 
basis for his disability claim . . . 
[keeping in mind case law cited earlier in 
the letter indicating diabetes is not a per 
se disability]. . . .  The City will then 
review the information to determine whether 
Mr. Dey has a disability as defined by the 
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ADA, and, if so, what accommodations can be 
reasonably made. 
 

R-54, at 3. 

43.  Petitioner did not ask to be classified as disabled.  

Rather, Dr. Mandry wrote to the City on June 8, 2005.   

Dr. Mandry stated that he was writing at the request of 

Petitioner.  In relevant part, Dr. Mandry explained:  

Mr. Dey is by no means disabled, and he can 
clearly work and satisfy the capacities of 
his job as long as there is some stability 
involved in it. (emphasis added) 
 

R-1. 
 

44.  In March and August 2005, the City did not select 

Petitioner to fill respective vacancies for a shift supervisor 

in the Communication Center and a parking enforcement specialist 

for the City.  Neither action constituted an adverse employment 

action against Petitioner. 

45.  The job duties for the vacant shift supervisor in 

March 2005 required the successful applicant to work night 

shifts.  Petitioner did not apply for the shift supervisor 

position. 

46.  When the City posted the notice of vacancy for the 

shift supervisor, Petitioner requested Ms. Moe to provide 

Petitioner with information about the job requirements for the 

position.  Ms. Moe responded on March 14, 2005, and advised 

Petitioner that the position was night shift duty and required 
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the supervisor to train other employees.  On March 23, 2005, 

Petitioner wrote to Ms. Moe indicating he had concluded that 

multiple aspects of my physical disability are contradictory to 

the requirements of the supervisory position and that he had 

elected not to apply for the position. 

47.  If Petitioner were to have applied for the shift 

supervisor position, Petitioner was not qualified to perform the 

essential requirements of the position.  Petitioner was unable 

or unwilling to work the night shift and was unable or unwilling 

to train subordinate employees. 

48.  The Communications Center receives 911 calls from the 

public.  Employees receive calls and dispatch them to the police 

department and fire department 24 hours a day. 

49.  The work schedule at the Communication Center is 

divided into two shifts.  The day shift begins at 6 a.m. and 

ends at 6 p.m.  The night shift begins at 6 p.m. and ends the 

following day at 6 a.m. 

50.  Approximately four to six employees work each 12-hour 

shift in the Communications Center.  However, only one 

supervisor works each shift. 

51.  A shift supervisor oversees the duties of all 

employees at the Communications Center and trains, advises, and 

assists subordinates.  Supervisors are routinely required to 

work overtime, perform on-call duty, fill in for other shift 
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supervisors, and hold over for indefinite times at the end of a 

shift to handle ongoing calls. 

52.  Petitioner claims to suffer from hypoglycemic episodes 

in which he becomes unresponsive and dysfunctional.  Petitioner 

has previously asked on two separate occasions to be relieved of 

responsibility to train personnel because it was too stressful 

for him.  In each instance, the City relieved Petitioner of any 

training responsibilities. 

53.  In August 2005, Petitioner applied for a job opening as 

a parking enforcement specialist for the City.  The City 

selected another candidate identified in the record as  

Ms. Evelyn Thurman. 

54.  The selection of Ms. Thurman over Petitioner to fill 

the vacant position of parking enforcement specialist was not an 

adverse employment action against Petitioner.  Ms. Thurman was 

more qualified by training and experience. 

55.  When the City selected Ms. Thurman to fill the vacant 

position of parking enforcement specialist, Ms. Thurman had  

24 years of law enforcement and security experience in various 

agencies.  From 1980 until 1996, Ms. Thurman worked as a crime 

scene investigator for the City of Miami Police Department, 

where she received numerous commendations, and her performance 

evaluations rated her as an above average employee.  Ms. Thurman 
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also worked at the Sheriff’s Office in Tampa, Florida, and in 

Security at the Florida Department of the Lottery. 

56.  Petitioner was unable to meet the essential functions 

of the job requirements for a parking enforcement specialist.  A 

parking enforcement specialist routinely works alone and is 

required to work at night.  The nature of the job does not 

permit the type of schedule Petitioner requires. 

57.  The work schedule of a parking enforcement specialist 

is not limited to daytime hours that do not exceed 33 to  

40 hours a week.  A parking enforcement specialist may be 

required to work evening shifts, long hours, overtime, and 

holidays. 

58.  A parking enforcement specialist also must adjust his 

or her work schedule when needed.  A parking enforcement 

specialist also must be available during emergencies to 

alleviate calls for service from patrol officers. 

59.  A parking enforcement specialist works alone.  

Petitioner suffers from hypoglycemic episodes in which he 

becomes unresponsive and dysfunctional.  The episodes can occur 

at any time, and Petitioner prefers not be alone on the job if 

possible. 

60.  On October 31, 2005, Ms. Moe issued a verbal reprimand 

to Petitioner for insubordination.  The verbal reprimand is not 

an adverse employment action against Petitioner.  The City did 
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not reduce Petitioner's pay and did not change the terms, 

conditions, or privileges of Petitioner's employment as a result 

of the reprimand. 

61.  In preparation for Hurricane Wilma earlier in  

October 2005, Ms. Moe sent an e-mail to employees in the 

Communication Center instructing them to come to work the 

following day with the supplies they would need if events 

required them to stay at the Communication Center during the 

hurricane (the Moe email).  Petitioner and most of the other 

employees did not bring their hurricane supplies with them when 

they reported to work the morning after the Moe email. 

62.  The City sent Petitioner and the other employees home 

to fetch their supplies and did not impose a time limit for the 

task.  Petitioner took about 90 minutes to get his supplies and 

return to work, and the span included the regular lunch hour.  

The time he took was not an issue of concern and did not provide 

a basis for the verbal reprimand. 

63.  Petitioner did not eat lunch during the time he 

retrieved his supplies.  Later in the day, Petitioner requested 

a meal break, and his supervisor denied the request.  Petitioner 

took a second meal break. 

64.  On October 23, 2005, Ms. Moe delivered to Petitioner a 

Notice of Intent to Discipline for insubordination.  On  

October 31, 2005, Ms. Moe issued an Oral Warning to Petitioner. 
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65.  Petitioner grieved the verbal reprimand.  During the 

grievance procedure, the City offered to rescind the warning to 

resolve the grievance.  Petitioner rejected the offer as 

unsatisfactory unless the City also destroyed the record of the 

discipline.  The City advised Petitioner that it could not 

destroy the document because the document was a public record. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

66.  DOAH has jurisdiction over the parties to and the 

subject matter of this proceeding pursuant to Chapter 760, 

Florida Statutes (2005),1 the Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA).  

§§ 120.569 and 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (2006).  DOAH provided the 

parties with adequate notice of the final hearing. 

67.  Subsection 760.10(1)(a) makes it an unlawful 

employment practice for an employer to discriminate against a 

person because of the person’s disability.  Florida courts 

construe disability discrimination actions under the FCRA in 

conformity with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C.  

§ 12101, et. seq. (ADA).  Lenard v. ALPHA, A Beginning, Inc., 

945 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007).  Judicial decisions by 

federal courts interpreting the ADA are controlling in this 

proceeding.  Wimberly v. Securities Technology Group, Inc., 866 

So. 2d 146 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); Tourville v. Securex, Inc.,  

769 So. 2d 491 n.1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Greene v. Seminole 

Electric Coop., Inc., 701 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). 
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68.  Petitioner has the burden of proof in this proceeding.  

Petitioner must show by a preponderance of the evidence that he 

has a statutorily covered disability; he is a qualified 

individual; and Respondent discriminated against Petitioner 

through an adverse employment action based on Petitioner's 

disability.  Lenard, 945 So. 2d at 618; Gordon v. E.L. Hamm & 

Associates, 100 F.3d 907, 910 (11th Cir. 1996).  

69.  A preponderance of the evidence does not support a 

finding that Petitioner is disabled within the meaning of the 

ADA and FCRA.  It is undisputed that Petitioner is diabetic.  

However, there is insufficient evidence to show that the 

impairment satisfies the legal test of a disability.  

70.  As a general rule, a physical or mental impairment is 

not automatically a "disability" under the ADA.  Toyota Motor 

Mfg., Ky., Inc. v. Williams, 534 U.S. 184, 195, 122 S. Ct. 681, 

151 L. Ed. 2d 615 (2002); Albertson's, Inc. v. Kirkingburg,  

527 U.S. 555, 565-66, 119 S. Ct. 2162, 144 L. Ed. 2d 518 (1999); 

Wimberly, 866 So. 2d at 147.  In order for an impairment to rise 

to the level of a disability, the impairment must substantially 

limit a major life activity of the petitioner.  Albertson's,  

527 U.S. at 565; Wimberly, 866 So. 2d at 147. 

71.  Major life activities include activities such as self-

care, manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, 

breathing, learning, and working.  29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(i).  An 
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impairment "substantially limits" a major life activity if it 

prevents a petitioner from performing a major life activity that 

the average person in the general population can perform or 

significantly restricts the condition, manner or duration of a 

major life activity as compared to the condition, manner, and 

duration under which the average person in the general 

population can perform the same activity.  29 C.F.R.  

§ 1630.2(j)(1) (2005). 

72.  A preponderance of the evidence does not show that 

diabetes substantially limits Petitioner's ability to perform a 

major life activity.  The evidence shows that Petitioner is able 

to care for himself, perform manual tasks, walk, see, hear, 

speak, breathe, learn, and work. 

73.  Diabetes does not significantly restrict the ability 

of Petitioner to perform either a class of jobs or a broad range 

of jobs in various classes when compared to the average person 

having comparable training, skills, and abilities.  The 

inability to perform a single, particular job is not a 

substantial limitation on the major life activity of working.  

29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(j)(3)(i); Lenard, 945 So. 2d at 618; Dupre v. 

Charter Behavioral Health Systems of Lafayette, Inc., 242 F.3d 

610, 611-612 (5th Cir. 2001). 

74.  Evidence that diabetes limits Petitioner to daytime 

shifts, either prevents or limits overtime, and requires breaks 
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to test his blood sugar and take sustenance does not satisfy the 

requirements for a disability.  See, e.g., Colwell v. Suffolk 

County Police Department, 158 F.3d 635, 644-45 (2d cir. 1998) 

(medical restrictions on work schedule, including days only, 

indoors only, limited overtime, no late or rotating shifts, and 

no stress and confrontation, was insufficient to show police 

officer recovering from cerebral hemorrhage was unable to work a 

class or broad range of jobs, and officer was not substantially 

limited in major life activity of working). 

75.  A preponderance of the evidence does not support a 

finding that Petitioner is disabled because Respondent regarded 

Petitioner as disabled.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(C) (person 

meets statutory requirements for disability if employer regards 

person as disabled).  The purpose of this provision is to cover 

individuals "rejected from a job because of the 'myths, fears 

and stereotypes' associated with disabilities.”  29 C.F.R. 1630, 

App. § 1630.2(l); School Bd. of Nassau Cty. v. Arline, 480 U.S. 

273, 284, 94 L. Ed. 2d 307, 107 S. Ct. 1123 (1987).   

76.  A preponderance of the evidence shows that Respondent 

did not regard Petitioner as disabled.  The City consistently 

told Petitioner the City did not regard him as disabled and 

advised Petitioner of the need for a formal determination by the 

city manager and city attorney in order for Petitioner to obtain 

an ADA disability and accommodation. 
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77.  Assuming arguendo that the impairment of diabetes 

renders Petitioner disabled within the meaning of the ADA and 

FCRA, a preponderance of the evidence does not support a finding 

that Respondent based an adverse employment action on 

Petitioner's disability.  It is undisputed that Petitioner did 

not apply for the promotion to shift supervisor.  The failure to 

apply for a promotion precludes a prima facie showing of 

discrimination.  Pritchard v. Office Max, Inc., 2000 U.S. App. 

Lexis 437 (6th Cir. 2000); Allen v. Michigan Department of 

Corrections, 165 F.3d 405, 410 (6th Cir. 1999). 

78.  A preponderance of the evidence shows that Petitioner 

was not qualified to perform the essential functions of the job 

of shift supervisor with or without reasonable accommodations 

within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. Section 12112(a).  Wood v. 

Green, 323 F.3d 1309, 1312 (11th Cir. 2003); Cramer v. Florida, 

117 F.3d 1258, 1264 (11th Cir. 1997).  It is undisputed that the 

job opening at issue was one for the night shift.  It is also 

undisputed that Petitioner was unwilling to work the night 

shift.  Even if Petitioner were willing to work the night shift, 

Petitioner is unwilling to train employees.  It is undisputed 

that the supervisor is required to train employees.  

79.  A preponderance of the evidence does not support a 

finding that Respondent discriminated against Petitioner by 

selecting Ms. Thurman over Petitioner in August 2005.  
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Petitioner was not a qualified employee able to perform the 

essential functions of the job with or without reasonable 

accommodations within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. Section 12112(a).  

The parking enforcement specialist position required a person 

able to work nights and extended hours when required.  

Petitioner is unable, or unwilling, to comply with those 

requirements.  Wood v. Green, 323 F.3d 1309, 1312 (11th Cir. 

2003); Cramer v. Florida, 117 F.3d 1258, 1264 (11th Cir. 1997). 

80.  A preponderance of the evidence does not support a 

finding that the alleged disability made a difference in 

Respondent’s decision to select Ms. Thurman over Petitioner.  

The evidence does not show that Respondent would have selected 

Petitioner “but for” the alleged disability.  McNely v. Ocala 

Star-Banner Corp., 99 F.3d 1068, 1076 (11th Cir. 1996).  Rather, 

the evidence shows that Respondent selected Ms. Thurman because 

of her extensive law enforcement experience, which was more 

directly related to the enforcement functions of the job.  

81.   A preponderance of the evidence does not support a 

finding that the verbal reprimand of Petitioner constituted an  

adverse employment action.  Not all conduct by an employer that 

negatively affects an employee constitutes adverse employment 

action.  Hooks v. Bank of America, 183 Fed. Appx. 833; 2006 U.S. 

App. Lexis 11354 (11th Cir. 2006); Davis v. Town of Lake Park, 

245 F.3d 1232, 1238 (11th Cir. 2001).  The verbal reprimand did 
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not result in a serious and material change in the terms, 

conditions, or privileges of employment.  Davis, 245 F.3d 

at 1239.  Moreover, the evidence is insufficient to show that 

Respondent would not have disciplined Petitioner but for the 

alleged disability.  McNely, 99 F.3d at 1076. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Commission enter a final order 

dismissing the Petition for Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 16th day of July 2007, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

                              S 
                              ___________________________________ 
                              DANIEL MANRY 
                              Administrative Law Judge 
                              Division of Administrative Hearings 
                              The DeSoto Building 
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway 
                              Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
                              (850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
                              Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
 
                              Filed with the Clerk of the 
                              Division of Administrative Hearings 
                              this 16th day of July 2007. 
 
 

ENDNOTE 
 
1/  All statutory references are to Florida Statutes (2005) 
unless otherwise stated. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
RICHARD R. LAKE, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
ARNOLD TRUSS CO., INC., 
 
 Respondent. 
                                

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 07-1128 

 
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
 A hearing was held pursuant to notice, on May 24, 2007, in 

Ocala, Florida, before the Division of Administrative Hearings 

by its designated Administrative Law Judge, Barbara J. Staros.        

APPEARANCES 

     For Petitioner:  Richard R. Lake, pro se 
                      6404 Southwest Ninth Avenue 
                      Ocala, Florida  34474 
                        
     For Respondent:  Michael J. Cooper, Esquire 
                      321 Northwest Third Avenue 
                      Ocala, Florida  34475 
                       

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 
 

 Whether Respondent violated the Florida Civil Rights Act of 

1992, as alleged in the Employment Complaint of Discrimination 

filed by Petitioner on September 28, 2005. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On September 28, 2005, Petitioner, Richard R. Lake, filed 

an Employment Complaint of Discrimination with the Florida 
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Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) which alleged that Arnold 

Truss Company violated Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, by 

discriminating against him on the basis of race and retaliation, 

which resulted in unfair terms and conditions of employment, 

reduction in pay, and termination.  The Employment Complaint of 

Discrimination alleged that Petitioner was injured on the job 

and was treated differently than a white employee injured on the 

job; that he received a reduction in pay for no reason; and that 

when he complained about the discrepancies, he was terminated.  

The allegations were investigated and on December 21, 2006, 

FCHR issued its Determination: Adverse Inference Clause with 

respect to Petitioner’s racial discrimination claim, and No 

Cause with respect to Petitioner’s claim of retaliation.  A 

Petition for Relief was filed by Petitioner on January 22, 2007.   

FCHR transmitted the case to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings on or about March 7, 2007.  A Notice of Hearing was 

issued setting the case for formal hearing on May 24, 2007.  The 

hearing proceeded as scheduled. 

At hearing, Petitioner testified on his own behalf.  

Petitioner did not present any documents into evidence.  

Petitioner requested that Official Recognition be taken of the 

documents in the file (i.e., the Employment Complaint of 

Discrimination, the Petition for Relief, and the Notice of 

Determination).  That request was granted.  Respondent presented 
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the testimony of Paul Miller Arnold, Michael Webb, and Terry 

McCall.  Respondent’s Exhibits 1 through 5 were admitted into 

evidence.     

The hearing was not transcribed.  Petitioner filed a post-

hearing letter and Respondent filed a Proposed Recommended 

Order, which have been considered in the preparation of this 

Recommended Order.1/ 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1.  Petitioner is an African-American male who was employed 

by Respondent from January 2005 until his termination on 

August 1, 2005.  Petitioner also worked for Respondent briefly 

in the early 1990s. 

2.  Respondent, Arnold Truss Company, Inc. (Arnold Truss), 

is an employer within the meaning of the Florida Civil Rights 

Act.  Arnold Truss manufactures roof and floor trusses and other 

building components.  Paul Arnold is the President and owner of 

Respondent.   

3.  When hired in January 2005, Petitioner worked on the 

day shift as a truss assembler.  While on the day shift, 

Petitioner was paid $9.00 per hour.   

4.  In February 2005, Petitioner was transferred to the 

night shift.  While on the night shift, Petitioner was paid 

$10.00 per hour.   
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5.  There is a $1.00 per hour pay differential in wages 

paid to day and night shift employees.  That is, it is standard 

practice in Respondent’s business for employees working the 

night shift to earn $1.00 more per hour than the day shift 

employees.   

6.  On April 12, 2005, Petitioner failed to show up for 

work.   

7.  On April 21, 2005, Mr. Arnold received a letter from 

Petitioner informing Mr. Arnold that Petitioner was incarcerated 

in the Marion County Jail.  In the letter, Petitioner requested 

that Mr. Arnold re-hire him when he got out of jail. 

8.  Mr. Arnold re-hired Petitioner on May 24, 2005.  

Initially, Petitioner was assigned to the night shift and again 

received wages of $10.00 per hour.  However, Petitioner 

requested that he be placed back on the day shift because he had 

transportation problems.   

9.  It was unusual for Respondent to move a night shift 

employee to the day shift.  Despite this, Respondent moved 

Petitioner to the day shift as requested.  Consequently, his 

rate of pay was reduced from $10.00 per hour to $9.00 per hour.  

He remained on the day shift until he was terminated by his 

supervisor on August 1, 2005. 
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10.  Petitioner claims that he was only paid $8.00 per hour 

for two weeks after the transfer back to day shift.  However, 

the preponderance of the evidence establishes that he was paid 

$9.00 per hour.  In any event, there is no evidence that any 

reduction in pay was related to anything but the change from 

working night shift to day shift. 

11.  At hearing, Mr. Arnold reviewed employees’ positions 

and rates of pay.  While a few employees received slightly more 

pay than others, this was due to raises earned by employees over 

time.  The pay received by Petitioner for day and night shift 

work is consistent with the pay received by other employees with 

similar experience for working these shifts. 

12.  Michael Webb, a black male, is plant manager for 

Respondent.  He has been employed by Respondent for 

approximately five years.  In 2005, Mr. Webb was a supervisor 

trainee. 

13.  In June 2005, Petitioner approached Mr. Webb telling 

him that he had been injured.  Mr. Webb told him to report this 

to Bill Baker, who was the supervisor at that time.  Mr. Baker 

did not testify at the hearing, but according to Petitioner, 

Mr. Baker told Petitioner to go home, which he did.   

14.  Also according to Petitioner, a white employee named 

David was injured on the night shift and was taken to the 

hospital in an ambulance.  There is no evidence as to the nature 
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or extent of Petitioner’s injury, or the nature or extent of the 

other employee’s injuries.  There was conflicting testimony as 

to the other injured employee’s race (white or Hispanic).  In 

any event, because of the lack of evidence regarding this in the 

record, it is impossible to conclude one way or the other as to 

whether the injuries sustained by Petitioner and the other 

employee were in anyway similar, or whether or not the men were 

treated differently by Respondent. 

15.  According to Respondent’s document entitled “Employee 

Notes” Petitioner was fired by his supervisor, Bill Baker, in 

August 2005, “because he refused to do the job he was asked to 

do and caused a scene.”  There is very little else in the record 

regarding the circumstances surrounding Petitioner’s 

termination.   

16.  There was no competent evidence presented that 

establishes or even suggests that Petitioner’s change in pay or 

termination was based on race. 

17.  There was no competent evidence presented that 

Petitioner engaged in statutorily protected activity before his 

termination.  That is, there was no evidence presented that 

Petitioner complained to Respondent that he was being 

discriminated against on the basis of race prior to the 

reduction in pay or his termination. 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 

 18.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter in this case. 

§§ 120.569 and 120.57, Fla. Stat.      

19.  Section 760.10(1), Florida Statutes, states that it is 

an unlawful employment practice for an employer to discharge or 

otherwise discriminate against an individual on the basis of 

race. 

20.  In discrimination cases alleging disparate treatment, 

the Petitioner generally bears the burden of proof established 

by the United States Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas v. 

Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and Texas Department of Community 

Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981).2/  Under this well 

established model of proof, the complainant bears the initial 

burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. 

When the charging party, i.e., Petitioner, is able to make out a 

prima facie case, the burden to go forward shifts to the 

employer to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory 

explanation for the employment action.  See Department of 

Corrections v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) 

(court discusses shifting burdens of proof in discrimination 

cases).  The employer has the burden of production, not 

persuasion, and need only persuade the finder of fact that the 

decision was non-discriminatory.  Id.  Alexander v. Fulton 
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County, Georgia, 207 F.3d 1303 (11th Cir. 2000).  The employee 

must then come forward with specific evidence demonstrating that 

the reasons given by the employer are a pretext for 

discrimination.  "The employee must satisfy this burden by 

showing directly that a discriminatory reason more likely than 

not motivated the decision, or indirectly by showing that the 

proffered reason for the employment decision is not worthy of 

belief."  Department of Corrections v. Chandler, supra at 1186;  

Alexander v. Fulton County, Georgia, supra.  Petitioner has not 

met this burden. 

21.  To establish a prima facie case, Petitioner must prove 

that (1) he is a member of a protected class (e.g., African-

American); (2) he was subject to an adverse employment action; 

(3) his employer treated similarly situated employees, who are 

not members of the protected class, more favorably; and (4) he 

was qualified for the job or benefit at issue.  See McDonald, 

supra; Gillis v. Georgia Department of Corrections, 400 F.3d 883 

(11th Cir. 2005). 

22.  Petitioner has met the first and second elements to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination in that he is a 

member of a protected class and was subject to an adverse 

employment action.   
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23.  However, he has not proven the third element, that his 

employer treated similarly situated employees who are not 

members of the protected class more favorably.  The 

preponderance of the evidence established that he was paid the 

same rate of pay as others who worked the same shift, regardless 

of race.  There is no evidence that establishes that race played 

any part in his termination, nor whether anyone of another race 

replaced him.  Petitioner has not provided sufficient evidence 

that the non-minority employees with whom he compares his 

treatment were similarly situated yet treated more favorably.  

See Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555 (11th Cir. 1997). 

24.  As for Petitioner’s allegation that he was injured on 

the job and was treated differently from an injured white 

employee, there is insufficient evidence to establish that this 

rises to the level of adverse employment action.  To be 

actionable, the employment action must be materially adverse as 

viewed by a reasonable person in the circumstances, not by the 

employee’s subjective view.  Davis v. Town of Lake Park, 245   

F.3d 1232, 1239 (11th Cir. 2001).  “Tangible employment action 

constitutes a significant change in employment status, such as 

hiring, firing, failing to promote, reassignment with 

significantly different responsibilities, or a decision causing 

a significant change in benefits.”  Id. 
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25.  Moreover, Petitioner did not present competent 

evidence to prove the fourth component of establishing a prima 

facie case regarding his being qualified for the job, although 

that does not appear to be in dispute. 

26.  Applying the McDonnell analysis, Petitioner did not 

meet his burden of establishing a prima facie case of 

discriminatory treatment.  Even assuming that Petitioner had 

demonstrated a prima facie case of discriminatory conduct, 

Respondent demonstrated a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason 

for Petitioner’s reduction in pay.  That is, there was a wage 

differential of $1.00 less per hour for the day shift as opposed 

to the night shift. 

27.  Even if it were necessary to go to the next level of 

the McDonnell analysis, Petitioner did not produce any evidence 

that Respondent’s legitimate reasons were pretext for 

discrimination.  Therefore, Petitioner has not met his burden of 

showing that a discriminatory reason more likely than not 

motivated the actions of Respondent toward Petitioner or by 

showing that the proffered reason for the employment decision is 

not worthy of belief.  Consequently, Petitioner has not met his 

burden of showing pretext.   

28.  In summary, Petitioner has failed to carry his burden 

of proof that Respondent engaged in racial discrimination toward 

Petitioner when it reduced his pay or in terminating him. 
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29.  To make a prima facie case of retaliation, Petitioner 

must show that he engaged in protected activity, that he 

suffered adverse employment action, and that there is some 

causal relation between the protected activity and the adverse 

employment action.  Casiano v. Gonzales, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 

3593 (N.D. Fla. 2006); Jeronimus v. Polk County Opportunity 

Council, Inc., 2005 U.S. App. Lexis 17016 (11th Cir. 2005).  

Petitioner has not produced any competent evidence that he 

engaged in protected activity (i.e., complained about unlawful 

discriminatory treatment), to support a charge of retaliation.   

RECOMMENDATION 

Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions 

of Law set forth herein, it is      

RECOMMENDED:   

That the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a 

final order dismissing the Petition for Relief.    

DONE AND ENTERED this 19th day of July, 2007, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S 
___________________________________ 
BARBARA J. STAROS 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 19th day of July, 2007. 

 
 

ENDNOTES 
 
1/  Petitioner attached several paycheck stubs from his 
employment at Respondent’s business to his post-hearing 
submission.  However, these attachments are in the nature of 
late-filed exhibits and, therefore, cannot be considered in 
formulating these findings of fact.  § 120.57(1)(j), Fla. Stat. 
 
2/  FCHR and Florida courts have determined that federal 
discrimination law should be used as guidance when construing 
provisions of Section 760.10, Florida Statutes.  See Brand v. 
Florida Power Corporation, 633 So. 2d 504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 
1994). 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
WALTER BOOTH, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
CITY OF GAINESVILLE, 
 
 Respondent. 
                                

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 07-1579 

   
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
     Administrative Law Judge Don W. Davis of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings (DOAH) held a formal hearing in this cause 

in Gainesville, Florida, on June 21, 2007.  The following 

appearances were entered: 

APPEARANCES 

     For Petitioner:  Walter Booth, pro se 
                      2810 Northeast 13th Street 
                      Gainesville, Florida  32609 
 
     For Respondent:  Daniel M. Nee, Esquire 
                      City of Gainesville 
                      200 East University Avenue, Suite 425 
                      Gainesville, Florida  32601-5456 
      

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 
 

     The issue for determination is whether Petitioner was 

subjected to an unlawful employment practice by Respondent due to 

Petitioner's race in violation of Section 760.10, Florida 

Statutes. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

     Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination against 

Respondent with the Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) 

on August 15, 2007, alleging his suspension from employment with 

Respondent for a period of five days without pay was disparate 

treatment taken against him as the result of Petitioner's race.  

     On or about February 19, 2007, the FCHR issued its 

determination:  No Cause.  

     On or about March 25, 2007, Petitioner filed a Petition for 

Relief with the FCHR.  Subsequently, on or about April 5, 2007, 

the case was forwarded to DOAH for formal proceedings. 

     During the final hearing, Petitioner testified in his own 

behalf, presented testimony of one other witness and offered five 

exhibits of which four were admitted into evidence.  Respondent 

presented testimony of two witnesses and 17 exhibits which were 

admitted into evidence. 

 No transcript of the final hearing was provided.  Both 

parties were offered the opportunity to file proposed findings 

of facts and proposed conclusions of law.  Both parties availed 

themselves of that opportunity.  The Proposed Recommended Order 

of each party has been reviewed and considered in the 

preparation of this Recommended Order.   

 References to Florida Statutes are to the 2006 Edition 

unless otherwise noted. 



 3

FINDINGS OF FACT 

     1.  Respondent employed Petitioner, an African-American 

male, on May 6, 1996, as a Code Enforcement Officer.  Almost ten 

years later, on March 28, 2006, Respondent suspended Petitioner 

for five days for violating City of Gainesville Personnel Policy 

19, Rule 19, by providing a false sworn affidavit attesting that 

a particular property was in compliance with an Order of the 

Code Enforcement Board when the property was not in compliance.  

Additionally, the Petitioner received a written warning and 

counseling regarding a violation of City of Gainesville 

Personnel Policy 19, Rule 13, which consisted of neglecting to 

perform a required re-inspection of a property for a period of 

several months. 

     2.  Petitioner’s work as a Code Enforcement Officer 

involved “responsible inspection work enforcing compliance with 

the City Codes and Ordinances pertaining to zoning, housing, 

landscaping, street graphics, lot clearance, junk vehicles, and 

related codes and ordinances.” 

     3.  On December 30, 2004, Petitioner received a complaint 

regarding violations of the housing code at 220 South East 1st 

Street, Gainesville, Florida.  After inspecting the property 

further on January 5, 2005, Petitioner issued the owner a notice 

of violation allowing the owner until February 5, 2005 to remove 
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non-operational vehicles and junk, trash and debris from the 

property. 

     4.  Petitioner re-inspected for compliance on May 16, 2005, 

when he found the property to be in non-compliance with the 

notice.  Respondent states that Petitioner referred the case to 

the City of Gainesville Code Enforcement Board, and it was 

docketed as case number CEB2005-106. 

     5.  The City of Gainesville Code Enforcement Board is a 

quasi-judicial board created by the City of Gainesville pursuant 

to Florida Statutes Chapter 162 and City Code of Ordinances 

Chapter 2.  The Code Enforcement Board is charged with hearing 

cases of alleged violations of the City’s Code. 

     6.  The Code Enforcement Board heard the case on June 9, 

2005, found the owner guilty of the violation, and allowed the 

owner until July 13, 2005 to bring the property into compliance. 

7.  On August 11, 2005, Petitioner made notes in the file 

to the effect that the matter had gone to the Code Enforcement 

Board and that he would “inspect for compliance with [the] order 

when time is up.”  No other case-related activity was noted by 

the Petitioner in the time period between the Enforcement Board 

hearing on June 9, 2005, and Petitioner’s alleged January 4, 

2006 inspection which led to the Affidavit of Compliance issued 

by Petitioner on January 6, 2006. 
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8.  On January 4, 2006 Petitioner noted in the file that 

the property was in compliance and later executed the Affidavit 

of Compliance before a licensed Notary Public after being duly 

sworn.  Petitioner swore under oath in that Affidavit that the 

corrective action ordered by the Board had been taken. 

9.  In February 2006, a new complaint regarding the above-

referenced property was made to the Code Enforcement Division.   

The new complaint was reported by multiple sources. 

10.  Code Enforcement Supervisor David Watkins investigated 

the February 2006 complaint.  Watkins found the property not in 

compliance and deduced that Petitioner filed the affidavit a 

month earlier with the knowledge that the compliance sworn to in 

the Affidavit had not been achieved.  Watkins’ determination is 

corroborated by photographic evidence presented at the final 

hearing and establishes that the property was not in compliance 

at the time of Petitioner’s affidavit.   

 11. Watkins summarized his investigation and findings in a 

detailed Supervisory Report.  He also learned from an interview 

with the owner of the 220 South East 1st Street property that 

the owner did not believe he had come into compliance with the 

order.  

12.  Petitioner’s false affidavit misrepresenting the facts 

of case number CEB2005-106 permitted the violator to evade the 
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penalty prescribed by the Code Enforcement Board of $250 a day 

for a period of 175 days or an accumulated fine of $43,750.   

 13. Petitioner was issued an Employee Notice on March 28, 

2006 for violation of City of Gainesville Personnel Policies and 

Procedures, Policy 19, Rules 19 and 13, resulting in a five-day 

suspension without pay.  

 14. Policy 19, Rule 19, prohibits “immoral, unlawful, or 

improper conduct or indecency, whether on or off the job which 

would tend to affect the employee’s relationship to his/her job, 

fellow workers’ reputations or goodwill in the community.”  The 

minimum disciplinary action provided for a first violation of 

Rule 19 is instruction and five day suspension or dismissal.”  

Policy 19, Rule 13 prohibits “productivity or workmanship not up 

to required standard of performance.”  The minimum disciplinary 

action provided for a first violation of Rule 13 is “written 

instruction & cautioning.” 

 15. Pursuant to the established procedure, Petitioner 

challenged the suspension through the three-step grievance 

process and was afforded the opportunity to present evidence and 

argument to the division manager, department head, and the City 

Manager’s Office.  The disciplinary action was sustained at each 

level. 

16. Petitioner compared his case to a case handled by a 

white code enforcement officer where that officer was not 
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disciplined.  In response to Petitioner’s allegations, Watkins 

reviewed the case referenced by Petitioner to determine possible 

existence of violations similar those committed by the 

Petitioner.  No evidence was discovered by Watkins to support 

Petitioner’s allegations.   

17.  The allegations raised by Petitioner against his 

fellow code enforcement officer were not supported at the final 

hearing through proof of execution of a false affidavit by a 

similarly situated white employee.  The City has had no cases of 

similar offenses within the memory of current management and no 

record of past cases.   

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

     18.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to, and the subject matter of 

these proceedings.  §§ 120.56(9) and 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. 

     19.  Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, the "Florida Civil 

Rights Act of 1992," provides security from discrimination based 

upon race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, 

or marital status.  

20.  The adverse effectuation of an employee’s 

compensation, conditions and privileges of employment on the 

basis of race is an unlawful employment practice. 

     21.  The burden of proof rests with Petitioner to show a 

prima facie case of employment discrimination.  After such a 
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showing by Petitioner, the burden shifts to Respondent to 

articulate a nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse action.  

If Respondent is successful and provides such a reason, the 

burden shifts again to Petitioner to show that the proffered 

reason for adverse action is pre-textual.  School Board of Leon 

County v. Hargis, 400 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

 22.  Also, provisions of Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, are 

analogous to those of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 

42 U.S.C. Sections 2000e, et seq.  See Department of Corrections 

v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).  Petitioner 

must show that:  (a) he belongs to a racial minority; (b) he was 

subjected to an adverse employment action; (c) he was qualified 

for his position; and (d) Respondent treated similarly situated 

employees outside the protected class more favorably.  Holifield 

v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 1997).  Petitioner has 

not met his initial burden of proof and cannot show that 

Respondent's suspension of Petitioner from employment was a 

pretext for intentional discrimination because he did not show 

that Respondent treated "similarly situated" employees outside 

his protected class more favorably.  See Abel v. Dubberly, 210 

F.2d 1334, 1339 (11th Cir. 2000) where the court stated, "absent 

some other similarly situated but differently disciplined 

worker, there can be no disparate treatment." 
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     23.  Petitioner offered no evidence of other similarly 

situated but differently disciplined workers.  Respondent's 

policy is applied in a consistent manner to all employees 

without regard to the employee's race.  

 24.  The testimony and other evidence produced by 

Petitioner are not sufficient to establish that racial 

discrimination by Respondent toward Petitioner occurred.  

Petitioner failed to show that Respondent’s basis for his 

termination was pre-textual in any way.    

RECOMMENDATION 

     Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

     RECOMMENDED: 

     That a Final Order be entered dismissing the Petition for 

Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 19th day of July, 2007, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                  
DON W. DAVIS 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
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Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 19th day of July, 2007. 
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